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DAY 04 – 18 February 2016 

 

  [1.03 pm] 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you.  Ms Scott, I believe you have got an issue to raise before 5 

we start? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Sir, is this to do with the presentation by the submitters? 

 

SJH:   Yes. 10 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, we have been advised that they would like to present to the 

Panel to you, they are landowners within the character area, and we 

have no objection in them doing that, sir. 

 15 

SJH:   All right, so we have Mr Chamberlain, Mr Robson and Ms Hilton.  Do 

you all need to speak or just one of you on behalf of all three of you? 
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<ROD ROBSON [1.04 pm] 

<KATHERINE HILTON [1.04 pm] 
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MR ROBSON:   Probably the two of us, sir. 

 

SJH:   So you are within that Chester Street East character overlay area? 

 

MR ROBSON:   Yes, this is Katherine Hilton, who is the property portfolio 5 

manager for Girl Guiding. The Girl Guiding organisation owns two 

properties and we are from Oxford Terrace Baptist Church and we own 

three. 

 

  [1.05 pm] 10 

 

SJH:   So you front on to Chester Street or onto Armagh Street, because there 

was a change from the original application taking some land out? 

 

MR ROBSON:   We have two properties, sir, on the south side of Chester 15 

Street, Nos 98 and 100 and 102 and we have 294 Madras Street. 

 

SJH:   And Girl Guides? 

 

MS HILTON:   We have the property on 217 Armagh Street and 221 Armagh 20 

Street. 

 

SJH:   All right, Mr Osborne, can we bring that map up?  No, there was one 

submitted that had the dotted lines and the agreed position.  Just wait 

and have a look at this because there was a change from the original 25 

matter. I think it came in in Ms Schroder’s, an attachment to her 

evidence. 

 

 I think that is the final one, do you see the dotted blue line around the 

outside? 30 

 

MS HILTON:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   Which is what is now being asked for, are your properties inside the 

dotted blue lines? 35 

 

MS HILTON:   The Girl Guiding New Zealand property is that blue box with 

the black dot, so on that plan it is outside the blue line. 

 

SJH:   Right, okay.  And the Oxford? 40 

 

MR ROBSON:   Sir, our properties are still within the line, that yellow 

horizontal strip backing onto Madras Street, the yellow bit going 

vertical at the end of it and 98 and 100 are one of those, the dark blue 

next to it with the dot. 45 
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SJH:   And so that leaves, you are not in it any longer, what has been 

suggested? Your position is that it was represented to us that all 

residents agreed with the character overlay, your position is you did not 

agree to it? 

 5 

MR ROBSON:   Yes, we understood that that has been intimated through 

Council by one of the witnesses and we want to clarify that, no, we had 

no knowledge until yesterday morning and we would very much want 

to be heard and have a chance to consider the impact on us before we 

took a position, sir. 10 

 

SJH:   Do you wish to file evidence or just address us and if so are you in a 

position to do so today, which was going to be the final day of these 

hearings? 

 15 

MR ROBSON:   Yes, we understand that, sir. 

 

SJH:   So do not commit to something that does not give you sufficient time. 

 

MR ROBSON:   No, that does seem a bit quick, sir, respectfully. 20 

 

SJH:   Would you want to call evidence or just file a submission? 

 

MR ROBSON:   Excuse me. Sir, we would be happy to have leave to file a late 

submission. 25 

 

SJH:   And are you happy to file it in writing for us to consider or do you want 

to appear and – I am trying to get around a logistical issue in that one of 

the Panel members is from Auckland. 

 30 

MR ROBSON:   I appreciate it, sir.  We will file a written submission and if 

you decide you need to hear us well, that would be up to the Panel. 

 

SJH:   All right, and if you think again about that you can include that in your 

written submission. 35 

 

MR ROBSON:   I appreciate that, sir. 

 

SJH:   All right, well, my apologies, we were relying on what we were told and 

it wasn’t from the Council, it was from the submitters group that the 40 

information came. 

 

MR ROBSON:   Yes, I understand that. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you very much and you may be released now, thank 45 

you.   
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MR ROBSON:   Thank you, sir. 

 

<ROD ROBSON WITHDREW [1.09 pm] 

<KATHERINE HILTON WITHDREW [1.09 pm] 5 

 

SJH:   Yes, Ms Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir, if I can call Mr Andrew Long please. 

 10 

SJH:   Thank you. 
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<ANDREW JEFFREY LONG, affirmed [1.09 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [1.09 pm] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Good afternoon.  If you could confirm your full name is Andrew 

Jeffrey Long? 

 5 

MR LONG:   It is. 

 

MS SCOTT:   You have prepared two statements of evidence for this hearing, 

the first in-chief dated 16 December 2015 and the second in rebuttal 

dated 26 January 2016? 10 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Are your qualifications and experience set out in your first 

statement of evidence filed back in May 2015? 15 

 

  [1.10 pm] 

 

MR LONG:   Correct. 

 20 

MS SCOTT:   Do you have any corrections you wish to make? 

 

MR LONG:   No. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Fantastic, if you can read a brief highlights summary of your 25 

evidence and remain seated for questions from the Panel, thank you. 

 

MR LONG:   The scope of my evidence is the Central City provisions 13.10 

Subdivision and Development, and 13.11 Earthworks. as incorporated 

into Chapter 8 Subdivision Development and Earthworks, other than 30 

those provisions written in Natural and Cultural Heritage Hearing. 

 

 Subdivision.  Some submissions seek relief on proposal 13 which, if 

accepted by the Panel, would result in an inconsistency between 

provisions for the Central City and those for the rest of the district.   35 

 

 There are instances where this is appropriate but also instances where it 

would be preferable to apply the relief sought from proposal 13 to the 

whole of the district.  These instances are identified in my evidence-in-

chief at paragraph 5.3 and in the Revised Proposal. 40 

 

 I also note integration issues with decision 13 and Central City 

subdivision provisions, in particular new policy 8.1.3.2 and the Central 

City policies relating to the same matter which is attachment B to my 

rebuttal included, identifies where Central City policies could be 45 

replaced by new policy 8.1.3.2. 
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 Within the Natural and Cultural Heritage Hearing and my evidence in 

that regard, (INDISTINCT 1.29) the Carter Group Limited submission 

which seeks substantial amendments to objectives and policies at 

section 13.10 and place great emphasis on development and to 5 

renumber the objectives and policies.  

 

 I rely on that evidence but in summary I do not accept the relief sought.  

I do not consider that the Strategic Directions Chapter with Higher 

Order documents suggest development should have primacy and nor do 10 

I consider that the order in which the objectives and policies appear in 

the document, indicate primacy. 

 

 Submissions seek amendment to provide for no minimum net area for 

retirement villages within the Central City Mixed Use Zone and Central 15 

City Guest Accommodation Zone. 

 

 There are two pathways for subdivision, subdivide first and build first.  

In my view, the build first option would facilitate the type of retirement 

village development likely to occur, provide for the development in a 20 

comprehensive manner and avoid subdivision which results in smaller 

allotments than otherwise anticipated in the zone. 

 

 I consider having no minimum lot size for the build first option is 

appropriate in this instance.     25 

 

 Earthworks.  The submission from Ryman Healthcare Limited seeks an 

increase in volume thresholds in certain Central City zones. An 

exemption exists, however, which provides that earthworks are exempt 

when building consent has been obtained. 30 

 

 It is my view that as development will generally be boundary to 

boundary within the Central City, and therefore falling within the 

building consent exemption, there is no need to increase the thresholds. 

 35 

 Canterbury Regional Council and the Crown seek amendments to the 

erosion and sediment control provisions.  In my view, neither of the 

relevant provisions in Chapter 13 or corresponding proposal 8 

provisions were measurable, at the time of notification amendments are 

appropriate. 40 

 

 These rules have been replaced in the Revised Proposal by advice notes 

in line with changes to Chapter 8 provisions where provisions provide 

scope, ie, there are some instances where there was a submission on 

Chapter 13 provisions and no corresponding submission on chapter 8.   45 
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SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you Mr Long and I just want to thank you for going to 

the effort of putting your clean copy together, where you have started 

the big job of incorporating all the other chapters that are coming 5 

together into Subdivision Chapter, so thank you for that, it gave a good 

overview of where we are heading, hopefully. 

 

 I wonder if you could just show us properly in your clean copy which is 

your attachment B, what you have done and your comments on 8.1.3, 10 

the policies, where you have endeavoured to incorporate the policy 

amendments into the revised section of policies on infrastructure that 

were changed in the Stage 1 Subdivision Decision. 

 

 Because when I read your comments, it looks like most of them, I think 15 

you are saying, there is no need – that they are adequately incorporated 

- - - 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   - - -except perhaps for one of them, and I am just wondering. 

 

MR LONG:   Just while I am looking for that one - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   A7 I think it is. 25 

 

MR LONG:   A7? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  So if you could just - I mean, can you clarify that 

although you have had to integrate these policies into a set that you 30 

have not seen before until recently, you think that that can be 

adequately done – there is no need for anything further? 

 

MR LONG:   I will just think about A7 for a moment. 

 35 

  [1.15 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   Apart from A7. 

 

MR LONG:   But in relation to the others, what was in the Central City 40 

Chapter was very similar, if not the same to what was in Chapter 8 and 

so I think they cover the same areas and then there is the Chapter 8 

decision change so as to fit into this policy. I think that has 

(INDISTINCT 0.27) most of the ideas and directions from the Chapter 

13 versions and tried to indicate where they have gone more, as much 45 

for my own as anybody else’s. 



 Page 448 

  

Ch13: Central City Commenced 11.02.16 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you for that. 

 

MR LONG:   In terms of A7 - - - - 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   Because it is always hard to see with those little lines, which 

part of C is it, is A7 referring to, is it the water supply one.  It says it 

was deleted through mediation. 

 

MR LONG:   It is hard to follow those lines, I think it was the reference to – 10 

connection to public articulated supply was deleted through mediation, 

but I can come back to you and confirm that. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, but you have suggested adding in and within the 

Central City ensure connection, so the part that is not involved in 2 as 15 

the part that you have added back into there, catch it where it was not - 

- - 

 

MR LONG:   From the chapter.  Yes, from what was in chapter 16. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, that is sufficient clarification for me, thank you 

very much. 

 

 And you have added in also on the next page another policy for the 

Central City relating to storm water disposal, and I just wonder whether 25 

you have had enough of a look at the policy above that, the general 

policy on storm water disposal, parts of which are very similar to the 

Central City one and whether it would be possible to just add 

something that sort of indicates that this bit applies to the Central City 

or the other bits do not apply to the Central City? 30 

 

MR LONG   Yes, I think it would be, I did look at the two of them and there is 

considerable overlap, not necessarily in the order it follows, you could 

add, yes, as you say, ‘within the Central City’, or with ‘outside the 

Central City’ wherever it is suited to integrate those two.   35 

 

 They are just quite – you know, I guess there is quite a lot in the policy 

outside the Central City that is not in the other one so, I just thought it 

might look a little bit messy - - - 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   It may be just about reordering. 

 

MR LONG:   - - - yes I think you could do it. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, and could you just – in 2.8 of your rebuttal you talk 45 

about these places where you think that there might need to be some 
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changes to the provisions outside the Central City to match some of the 

matters that have come through in submissions on the Central City.   

 

 And I wonder if you could explain or show us, not everyone because 

some of them are the same, I think the clean version because – I would 5 

be interested in your view as to whether they are of more than minor 

effect or not, because you sort of indicate they might be, because it is 

quite significant in terms of the process we need to follow. 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, so I think one that I mentioned in my highlights was the 10 

erosion and sediment control rules in the earthworks section, which is 

page 70 something - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  And you are only recommending that go in as an advice 

note? 15 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, there are a couple of clauses there, they relate to 67 and 69, 

so there were submissions on Chapter 13, that there were not 

corresponding ones in Chapter 8, however, in that instance that note 

and the clause C there I guess is incorrect, that has the wrong 20 

references to ECan documents, and would be pretty much preferable if 

they were made the same.  And I think for that one, I think that is 

probably reasonably minor. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 25 

 

MR LONG:   Maybe there were some others and I think at paragraph 5.3 of my 

evidence I set those out in more detail than in my rebuttal. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So the ones that you set out in 5.3 that you think could have 30 

more than minor implications if that change is just made to - - - 

 

MR LONG:   Just remind myself of that.  I think at 5.3 I just cover off the ones 

that I think in my, it may be inappropriate for the Panel to look at - - - 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   This is in your evidence-in-chief? 

 

MR LONG:   Evidence-in-chief, correct, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  So those are the matters raised by the Regional Council 40 

and the Crown? 
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  [1.20 pm] 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, but without covering off the legal aspect of how that might 

and will need to happen. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   So those are the ones that you have a little bit more concern 

about rather than the advice note? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   All right, well we will wait for legal submissions on that.  

And then my final question is just relating to this amendment you made 

for retirement villages, if you could look at I think it is table 6 or 

table 7 maybe in the clean copy. 

 15 

MR LONG:   I do not see there is a number actually. 

 

MS DAWSON:   The number changes.  So you have suggested no minimum 

for retirement villages where they are built. 

 20 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But in the very next line you have got no minimum for any 

activity in any zone in the Central City if it is built so the retirement 

village one is not necessary? 25 

 

MR LONG:   No, it is not. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you, that is fine. 

 30 

MR LONG:   And I think it is probably just more to show that I have made the 

changes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   That you have done it, yes.  All right, well, I am sure Ryman 

will be pleased.  All right, thank you very much, that is all, Mr Long, 35 

and thank you for your work on that. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, I have no questions, sir, other than just to state again 40 

Mr Long’s evidence addresses matters relating to Ryman and I have 

previously explained my relationship with them. 

 

SJH:   My apologies, I overlooked that.  Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 45 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 
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SJH:   Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, thank you, sir, that questioning was helpful. 

 5 

SJH:   Anything arising, Ms Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Long, you may stand down.  Yes, Mr Gardner-Hopkins? 10 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [1.21 pm] 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:  Thank you, your Honour.  May it please the 

Panel, I believe you have my short submissions. 15 

 

SJH:   We do. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   And I think they have been distributed to 

counsel.  I just intend to talk very briefly to them, the issue is a very 20 

discrete one for this submitter that essentially centres around how the 

site of the Carlton should be addressed in the plan, really two issues 

that have been sought in terms of relief.  The extension of the Central 

City Business zone onto that site, and I acknowledge there are some 

difficulties in that because of how the higher order planning documents 25 

define the boundaries of the Central City, and I have to acknowledge 

that Mr Thorne, the planning witness, on the basis of those documents 

does not support that relief. I maintain that relief for jurisdictional 

purposes so that a lesser form can be considered by the Panel. 

 30 

 And that lesser form principally is the extension of the entertainment 

and hospitality precinct onto the Carlton site with some additional links 

to the relevant objectives and policies.  Because of course if the zone 

were to be extended then the objectives and policies would 

automatically follow, but if it is just the entertainment precinct then 35 

there may need to be an additional explanation or linkage to the 

objectives and policies, and that is something that Mr Thorne addresses 

in his evidence and he has proposed an advice note.   

 

 I am relatively relaxed as to what the mechanism is, whether it is an 40 

advice note or an explanation or some other means of ensuring that 

there is support in the objectives and policies if the Panel were minded 

to extend the entertainment and hospitality precinct onto the Carlton 

site. 

 45 



 Page 452 

  

Ch13: Central City Commenced 11.02.16 

 The other refinement that has been made at this point is to reduce the 

extent of the extension of the hospitality precinct so that it essentially 

just covers the Carlton building and not the entire Carlton site.  And so 

again that is a lesser form, that is less of an extension of the precinct 

and that may also have some consequences in terms of some of the 5 

development standards that follow the entertainment precinct.  I think 

there is some requirements for example in terms of 75 metre distance 

for certain acoustic standards within that distance, and that is 

something that Mr Thorne can talk to if necessary. 

 10 

 So there are two witnesses, Mr Thorne and Mr Murdoch, and each have 

prepared a very short summary of their evidence that they intend just to 

read when they are called. 

 

  [1.25 pm] 15 

 

 On my page 2 I really just try to briefly capture the key reasons why we 

say this lesser form of relief should be granted, and I think they can be 

distilled into five very short points.   

 20 

 The first is the long history of this site as being a hospitality and 

entertainment venue, it has over 150 years of being in that sort of use, 

there has been recent investment and for the foreseeable future it will 

continue to be operated as a hospitality site. 

 25 

 The second reason centres around the existence of the Victoria Street 

Accord, which has been voluntarily entered into by a number of 

operators on Victoria Street including the Carlton site.  I accept that is a 

non-statutory document in terms of the RMA, but I do say it is a 

relevant consideration, it has been in place for some time and those 30 

who are part of the accord are operating under it.   

 

 And there is a question if the Carlton site is not included in the 

hospitality precinct whether or not it is appropriate for it to remain a 

member of the accord with the associated costs that that does impose 35 

on the Carlton. 

 

 The third point in support of the relief is the fact that both Mr Thorne 

and Mr Stevenson do acknowledge that the precinct overlay does not 

need to follow zoning boundaries.  So in my submission I do say as a 40 

planning tool it is possible to have the precinct extend across different 

zones.   

 

 The fourth point is one of fairness and the competitive advantage or 

disadvantage that may flow if the Carlton is not included in that 45 

entertainment and hospitality precinct. 



 Page 453 

  

Ch13: Central City Commenced 11.02.16 

 

 And the final point, and it follows from this fairness question, is that 

the provisions of the plan, and in particular the objectives and policies, 

are relevant mandatory considerations for the resolution of the LAP, 

which is a different process, but in terms of that statutory framework 5 

there is a direction to have regard to the objectives and policies of the 

plan. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.   

 10 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   So if I can call the first witness, Mr Thorne. 
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<DANIEL IAN THORNE, affirmed [1.28 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR GARDNER-HOPKINS [1.28 pm] 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Thank you, Mr Thorne, can you confirm that 

your full name is Daniel Ian Thorne? 

 5 

MR THORNE:   It is. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   And that you have prepared a statement of 

evidence dated 14 January 2016? 

 10 

MR THORNE:   That is correct. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   And you have the qualifications and experience 

recorded in that statement? 

 15 

MR THORNE:   Correct. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   And to the best of your knowledge and belief is 

that statement true and correct? 

 20 

MR THORNE:   It is, yes. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   And you have prepared a short summary? 

 

MR THORNE:   Yes, I have. 25 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Can you please read that to the Panel and then 

answer any questions there may be of you? 

 

MR THORNE:   Good afternoon, my evidence focuses on the two matters of 30 

concern identified in PRL’s original submission 3685 which relate to 

the rezoning of the Carlton Bar and Eatery site, I will just refer to that 

as the Carlton, seeking that to be rezoned to Central City Business, and 

also the extension of the category 2, entertainment and hospitality 

precinct, over the same site.   35 

 

 So in my evidence-in-chief I recorded that I was in agreement with 

Mr Stevenson’s recommendation to reject PRL’s submission point on 

the rezoning of the site to Central City Business.   

 40 

  [1.30 pm] 

 

 Mr Stevenson and I however disagree of the merits of PRL’s 

submission point which seeks to extend the precinct over the Carlton 

site.  So I will focus on this aspect of PRL’s relief. 45 
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 So in short, based on the evidence of Mr Murdoch and also 

Mr Bremner for Pacific Park, and my own experience having visited 

the Victoria Street precinct, I considered there to be a clear linkage in 

relationship between the Carlton and the other entertainment and 

hospitality activities located along Victoria Street.  To this end, I see 5 

merit in the Carlton site having planning provisions that support 

entertainment and hospitality activity such as those that apply to the 

precinct along Victoria Street.  I therefore support the extension of that 

precinct over the Carlton site. 

 10 

 I understand that PRL is only seeking that the precinct cover a portion 

of its site, being that part where the building is located. I am 

comfortable with this refinement to the relief sought and note that it 

may mean that fewer residential properties are within 75 metres of the 

precinct boundaries, and I will come back to that shortly. 15 

 

 As Mr Gardner-Hopkins mentioned, Mr Stevenson and I are in 

agreement that a precinct need not be solely defined by the zoning of 

an area, and to this end I do not consider there to be any obstacle to the 

extension of the precinct boundary by virtue of the Carlton site not 20 

having a Central City Business zoning.  I also note that Mr Stevenson 

accepts in paragraph 13.4 of his rebuttal that the scale and nature of 

activity and zoning are distinct on the Carlton site relative to that on the 

eastern side of Papanui Road. 

 25 

 As identified in the evidence-in-chief of Mr Murdoch, the Carlton has 

existed on the site in various forms for over 150 years, with the most 

recent rebuild completed in 2013. Further, it is Mr Murdoch’s 

experience that customers will often leave the Carlton and visit other 

bars and restaurants in Victoria Street, and as the first bar in the 30 

Victoria Street grouping, it enjoys a role as an anchor or a bookend at 

the northern end of the precinct in much the same way as the Casino 

plays at the southern end. 

 

 I understand that the Carlton has and continues to play an active role in 35 

the management and provision of hospitality along Victoria Street by 

virtue of its inclusion within the Victoria Street Precinct Accord.  

While I recognise that the Accord does not have statutory status under 

the RMA I consider it nonetheless a relevant matter to be considered in 

terms of primarily how the precinct functions on the ground.  In 40 

addition I understand it has been considered relevant in granting 

resource consents for a number of other establishments in the precinct 

area. 

 

 In my view the purpose or a role of a precinct is to define a spatial area 45 

where common activities are encouraged to (INDISTINCT 2.55), 
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recognising that there are a range of benefits from consolidating similar 

activities in key locations.  In this regard, given the scale and long-

established nature of the Carlton, the fact that it is only a short walk 

across Bealey Avenue, and the Carlton’s relationship and active role 

with other hospitality activities along Victoria Street, I do not consider 5 

that the mere presence of Bealey Avenue warrants the Carlton’s 

exclusion from within the EHP boundary. 

 

 So despite the Carlton site being located outside the defined central city 

area, I consider that through its function, scale and proximity, it plays a 10 

unique role in supporting the revitalisation of the central city and other 

entertainment and hospitality activities along Victoria Street. 

 

 So coming to the noise insulation requirements, I acknowledge 

Mr Stevens’ comments in respect of rule 6.1.4.2.10 of the Replacement 15 

Plan, which generally requires noise insulation for category 3 land that 

is zoned residential within 75 metres of a category 2 EHP area.  As I 

understand it, all land within the central city outside of those category 1 

and 2 areas is identified as category 3. 

 20 

 Mr Stevenson rightly notes that if the precinct is extended over the 

Carlton site and outside of the central city, then for consistency a 

similar rule may be required to address the Carlton’s proximity to 

surrounding residential areas. 

 25 

 I generally accept Mr Stevenson’s comments on this matter and I 

understand this could be achieved by extending the category 3 area or 

boundary in conjunction with the category 2 extension on the relevant 

planning map, or a bespoke rule could be created.  I do, however, note 

that the land surrounding the Carlton site is zoned commercial, with the 30 

nearest residential zoned land located along Rastrick Street to the north. 

By my measurements on Google Earth the actual Carlton building is 

located at least 75 metres from the nearest residential property along 

Rastrick Street. To this end the need for such provision may be 

unwarranted if the precinct boundary was confined to that area 35 

immediately occupied by the Carlton building as is now proposed. 

 

 So that is all I have in terms of my summary. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Scott? 40 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [1.35 pm] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon, Mr Thorne. 

 45 

MR THORNE:   Good afternoon. 
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MS SCOTT:   I just want to start by exploring your statement that there is a 

clear linkage in relationship between the Carlton and the entertainment 

and hospitality precinct, which I will just call the precinct, along 

Victoria Street. You will accept that Bealey Avenue has been identified 5 

as a major arterial in chapter 7 of the plan? 

 

MR THORNE:   Yes, I am aware of that. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And I think it is called a four-lane major arterial road in your 10 

evidence? 

 

MR THORNE:   Yes, I accept that. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And in terms of the intersection between the Carlton and 15 

Victoria Street it is significant, we also have two turning lanes; one 

going left onto Papanui Road, one right onto Victoria Street? 

 

MR THORNE:   Yes. 

 20 

MS SCOTT:   And in fact Bealey Avenue heading east to west is in fact three 

lanes at that point is it not? 

 

MR THORNE:   I will take your word for it, yes. 

 25 

MS SCOTT:   And between the two lanes in each direction we have quite 

substantial and mature trees in the middle of the road? 

 

MR THORNE:   Yes. 

 30 

MS SCOTT:   And at the top end of Victoria Street directly opposite the 

Carlton there is an empty lot there which was previously Smash 

Palace? 

 

MR THORNE:   Yes. 35 

 

MS SCOTT:   And opposite Smash Palace on the other side of Victoria Street 

we have the recently constructed Knox Church.  So in terms of a 

significant road, intersection, an empty lot and a church between the 

Carlton site and the closest hospitality activity on Victoria Street, you 40 

do not consider that saying there is a clear linkage is quite a strong 

conclusion? 

 

MR THORNE:   No, I do not.  I think the activity itself is the clear linkage, 

despite the fact that I fully acknowledge there is a four-lane major 45 

arterial road going through there. And I think in the evidence of 
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Mr Murdoch and Mr Bremner, there is a clear demonstration that how 

the Carlton operates is well-linked with the other hospitality activities 

along Victoria Street. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, so you are not putting any weight – it is not the distance 5 

that you are referring to, it is the actual activity that is that linkage in 

your perspective? 

 

MR THORNE:   Absolutely, that is the connection, that is the linkage between 

the various activities. 10 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, and in terms of the Victoria Street Precinct Accord, which 

you place quite a lot of weight on in your evidence, you have accepted 

in your highlights package that it is a non-statutory document? 

 15 

MR THORNE:   Yes, that is correct, yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   So under both the RMA and the Local Government Act, it was 

not prepared under the Local Government Act. 

 20 

MR THORNE:   No, no it was not, no. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, and do you acknowledge, and I am now referring to the 

precinct within the Accord - - - 

 25 

MR THORNE:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   - - - that the precinct includes sites not currently used for 

entertainment and hospitality activities? 

 30 

MR THORNE:   I would accept that, yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   So the Accord is therefore providing for a future environment as 

much as recognising the existing? 

 35 

MR THORNE:   Yes, I would accept that too. 

 

MS SCOTT:   So if regard is had to future use of sites is it not the case that the 

Carlton sits in a commercial area north of Bealey Avenue, where 

additional entertainment and hospitality activities may develop in the 40 

future? 

 

MR THORNE:   I would accept that the Accord area reflects the existing 

investment along Victoria Street and provides for future development 

opportunity.  I consider that the Carlton site is more appropriately 45 
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located within that Accord area and within the precinct boundaries for 

that reason. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay and the membership of this Accord is not exclusive, is it? 

 5 

MR THORNE:   I would probably defer those questions to Mr Murdoch.  I 

understand it is a voluntary accord so there is opportunity for new 

members to join or to leave as well. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And Mr Murdoch, he refers to it as a working document in his 10 

evidence, you read that? 

 

MR THORNE:   Yes, that would be correct, a living document. 

 

MS SCOTT:   So if other hospitality providers were to sign up to the Accord 15 

would they too also expect an extension of the precinct over their 

facilities? 

 

MR THORNE:   It would entirely depend on the context of the activity.  People 

are well placed to apply for membership but I think in this instance the 20 

fact that we have got a long-established hospitality activity which is 

playing a key role in the accord, and I do not wish to place a huge 

significance on the accord in itself, it is what that means on the ground 

for Victoria Street, and how the various hospitality operators work 

together. 25 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, but you would accept that the accord is one of the main 

reasons for extending the entertainment and hospital precinct in your 

written evidence? 

 30 

MR THORNE:   No, I would not accept that.  I would say the accord in itself is 

a document but it is what the accord reflects on the ground is where I 

would place more weight. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Right, can you point to anywhere else within the Proposed Plan 35 

where the entertainment precinct extends beyond the avenues, so onto 

the other side of Bealey Avenue? 

 

MR THORNE:   No, I cannot and I understand that is the genesis of the 

precinct approach, which was focused on the Central City Recovery 40 

Plan so I suspect there was very limited opportunity to extend the 

precinct beyond those boundaries. 
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  [1.40 pm] 

 

MS SCOTT:   And you have identified in your evidence in your attachment 

some amendments that would be required to allow the precinct to apply 

to the Carlton site. 5 

 

MR THORNE:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Your evidence at paragraph 33(b) is that extending the precinct 

makes the Replacement Plan easier to understand. Doesn’t the 10 

inclusion of exceptions to the Plan actually make the Plan more 

complex? 

 

MR THORNE:   No, what we are looking at is a single, discrete site and the 

sort of suggested (INDISTINCT 00.36) site included, I fully accept a 15 

rather blunt approach to it but it is effective in achieving the outcome 

of extending the EHP, without going down the path of creating 

exemptions to various rules along the way. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, and just finally, Mr Murdoch, he outlines his key 20 

concern, one of his examples to his key concerns is for not treating the 

Carlton in a way consistent with the rest of the precinct.  He sets out at 

paragraph 19 of his evidence that if the Carlton owners wish to 

undertake renovations or reconfigurations that consent requirements 

would be more onerous.   25 

 

 You would accept, would you not, that those types of extensions or 

alterations would fall under the Commercial Core zoning rather than 

the - - - 

 30 

MR THORNE:   Central city business, I would. 

 

MS SCOTT:   You would, thank you, sir, no further questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Dawson. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:  Thank you, Mr Thorne.  Perhaps could we have a planning 

map, please, of the location? Is the nearest residential zone the 

Rastrick Street area? 

 40 

MR THORNE:   That is my understanding.  So there is the medium density 

zone to the north of Derby Street as well which I understand the nearest 

properties are a small antique shop and a hairdresser. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So what does the rule say?  Does it apply to activities or to 45 

residential activities in a residential zone or - - - 
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MR THORNE:   I understand the rule without looking at it in detail applies to 

sensitive activities that are located in residential zones. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So is the area that is shown in white, because this is the 5 

stage 2 zoning map, around Rastrick Street, would it be zoned 

Residential Medium Density as well? 

 

MR THORNE:   I suspect it will be Residential Suburban being one of the 

stage 1. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, medium density.  So, you said that you have done a 

quick exercise on your - - - 

 

MR THORNE:   Google Earth. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - Google Earth and it is quite a big difference between 

having no residential properties inside the 75 metres and having one or 

two.  How accurate is your determination that there are no residential 

properties or potentially residential properties? 20 

 

MR THORNE:   I could not possibly say that it is accurate and I think for that 

instance it probably warrants a little bit further investigation, but in the 

absence of that, I think the proper approach would be just to define that 

category 3 boundary. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   So how do you think that that could be done given that that is 

an imposition over those properties which has not been notified? 

 

MR THORNE:   I guess there is some support in the fact that the Carlton has 30 

been on that site for that long. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But I mean in terms of fairness to those properties.  I mean, 

are you suggesting that that is next to be re-notified as a new rule 

applying to those properties? 35 

 

MR THORNE:   No, I would not recommend that at all. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So, how would it be implemented if it was not re-notified in 

terms of fairness to those property owners? 40 

 

MR THORNE:  I think you would have to look at the individual circumstances 

of the case. As I said, I do not think there are many residential 

properties within 75 metres of the Carlton building site, so I accept that 

there may be some potential issue if there are additional provisions put 45 

in place on those properties outside, within that 75 metre area. 
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MS DAWSON:   Okay, would you accept that it would be potentially an 

additional imposition on, a new rule that would be applied to those 

properties if the category 3 was to be extended because the 75 metres 

extended beyond the residential zones? 5 

 

MR THORNE:   I would accept that, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:    I am interested in – I mean, this is a Residential Medium 

Density zone surrounding a Commercial Core zone at the moment and 10 

in the central city there is a different Residential zone surrounding a 

different Business zone, which through the Central City Recovery Plan 

has had a precinct overlaid on it, so could you tell me what difference 

or similarity – have you explored the policy differences between what 

level of amenity the policies in the Central City Recovery Plan say that 15 

the residential areas in the central city should expect compared with 

what a Residential Medium Density should expect near a Commercial 

Core zone.  Have you explored that? 

 

  [1.45 pm] 20 

 

MR THORNE:   No, no I have not.  All I understand is there are existing rules 

in place regarding the 75 metre and that will apply, so that is far as I - - 

- 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   But you have not explored what the policy difference is 

between those two residential environments and what expectations 

there would be in a policy sense from adjoining a business zone, one 

being central city, one being suburban effectively. 

 30 

MR THORNE:   No, I have not explored that and I will just note that the 

proximity of the Central City Residential zone to the Carlton site is 

effectively similar to what properties outside in the Residential 

Medium Density zone are located to other activities within the central 

city. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   But we have got here a medium density but a Suburban 

Medium Density zone joining a Suburban Commercial Core zone 

which there are likely to be some policies, versus a central city context, 

and what you are asking is to take a central city tool, the precinct, and 40 

apply it into a suburban context, and I am asking you if you have 

explored the policy implications of doing that and you are saying no, 

you have not done it. 

 

MR THORNE:   No, I have not, no. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   All right, that is fine.  And there is a bar opened up over the 

road on the other side of Papanui Road, I think it is the Vesuvio Bar. 

 

MR THORNE:  It is called Jazz Bar, I think. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and the shops on the corner of Bealey Avenue and 

Papanui Road are being renovated at the moment.  So do you think that 

once those properties are renovated, if there were more of them started 

up being bars or entertainment and hospitality activities, would they be 

able to make the same argument that they could join the accord and say 10 

they are equally distant - - - 

 

MR THORNE:   I think the historical context of the Carlton plays a fairly 

significant role in making it quite a unique feature, the scale of it as 

well acts as a bit of a feeder to the rest of Victoria Street. 15 

 

 I think the different zoning as well in play.  You have got a small scale 

Commercial Local compared to a Commercial Core.  They could make 

an argument but I think it would be much weaker than the Carlton site. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   Which is predominantly around scale and history? 

 

MR THORNE:   Scale, yes, history and zoning. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, that is all my questions, thank you.   25 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Dr Mitchell. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon, Mr Thorne.  In terms of 

the reconstruction of the Carlton properties that were finished in 2013, 30 

did they require resource consents in order to re-establish? 

 

MR THORNE:   Yes, that is my understanding.  I understand it had a Living 5 

zoning previously. 

 35 

DR MITCHELL:   And do you know what those consent conditions require in 

terms of the externalities that you have been talking about with the 

other questions thus far, are the provisions of those resource consents 

or that resource consent, how do they line up against what would apply 

if the overlay were imposed? 40 

 

MR THORNE:   I would need some time to review those consent conditions.  I 

was not involved in the Carlton consent.  I suspect they would have 

sale, hours of operation, noise requirements be met which would apply 

to the nearest living zone boundary. 45 
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DR MITCHELL:    So, some of the issues around fairness may or may not 

exist to the extent that the consent does or does not allow that scale of 

effect. 

 

MR THORNE:   I would have to review the consents. 5 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Yes, all right.  Thank you.  That is all I have got, sir, thank 

you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Huria? 10 

 

MS HURIA:   No questions, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Judge? 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, sir, yes, good afternoon, Mr Thorne, I have 

probably got a couple of matters now in light of that questioning.  

 

 Just one, starting with sort of the construct that we have to evaluate 

things on under section 32, what would you describe to be the risks 20 

presented to the Carlton bearing in mind how it operates now, of not 

extending the precinct to them thinking about that risk question in 

terms of social, economic and cultural wellbeing? 

 

  [1.50 pm] 25 

 

MR THORNE:   I have not undertaken a cost benefit analysis, primarily 

because I saw this as a rather discreet issue, where you have got a long 

established site, a long established hospitality activity.  I understand the 

economic evidence for the Council, I think it was Mr Osborne, 30 

identified that there was a competitive advantage for activities located 

within the precinct compared to those outside. 

 

 So on that basis, I would say being located outside of the precinct 

would represent a disadvantage to the Carlton. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Relying on Mr Osborne’s analysis? 

 

MR THORNE:   Correct. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just secondly, finally, you deferred to Mr Murdoch, I 

think, on the substance of the Victoria Street Precinct Accord, but I 

have just got two questions on it for you if you can help. 

 

 Just looking at the copy I have got attached to his evidence, it says at 45 

the foot of page 2 that it was prepared by Town Planning Group 
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Limited, the same consultancy that you are a member of.  Do you know 

who prepared their accord? 

 

MR THORNE:   I understand it was prepared by the company director, 

Mr Brett Giddens, who undertook that on a collective basis for the 5 

hospitality activities located along Victoria Street. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So Mr Giddens being the director of your company, Town 

Planning Group? 

 10 

MR THORNE:   That is correct.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The second thing I have, it might just be my copy but I do 

not think my copy is signed and yet under responsibilities of members 

of the accord under clause 3, the third bullet point says, “Agrees to 15 

work with other signatories.” 

 

 How do I understand that word signatories, has it been signed and if 

not, what does signatories mean? 

 20 

MR THORNE:   I am not too sure, I would have to defer that to Ms Murdoch, 

or I understand Mr Giddens is providing evidence in the Chapter 6 

Hearing at which he can respond to questions on the accord as part of 

that. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Mr Thorne, the greater Carlton side, if I can put it that way, if you are 

approaching it from the Hagley Park end and turn in, there is a number 

of smaller units on that side.  What are they used for? 30 

 

MR THORNE:   This end is a bikram yoga, a hot yoga studio along there, and 

from recollection I believe they are just other office activities. 

 

SJH:   And am I right there is a two storey- - - 35 

 

MR THORNE:  Yes, that is correct. 

 

SJH:   - - -and none of them are used for residential? 

 40 

MR THORNE:   That is my understanding but - - - 

 

SJH:   You do not actually know for certain? 

 

MR THORNE:   No, I do not for certain.  Mr Murdoch may be able to respond 45 

to that. 



 Page 467 

  

Ch13: Central City Commenced 11.02.16 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Anything arising, Ms Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, sir. 

 5 

SJH:   Anything arising or re-examination Mr Gardner-Hopkins? 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   No. 

 

SJH:  Thank you, thank you Mr Thorne, you may stand down. Yes, 10 

Mr Gardner-Hopkins. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [1.21 pm] 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   If I can call now Mr Murdoch to the stand. 15 
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<JAMES TURTON MURDOCH, affirmed [1.53 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR GARDNER-HOPKINS [1.53 pm] 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Thank you. Mr Murdoch can you please confirm 

that your full name is James Turton Murdoch? 

 5 

MR MURDOCH:   This is correct. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   And you have prepared a statement of evidence 

dated 14 January 2016? 

 10 

MR MURDOCH:   Correct. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   And can you confirm that the contents of the 

statement are true and correct to the best of your knowledge and belief? 

 15 

MR MURDOCH:   This is correct. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   You have prepared a short summary, can you 

please read that for the Panel and I do not think there is 

cross-examination, but the Panel may have some questions for you. 20 

 

 MR MURDOCH:   I am the sole director of Papanui Road Limited and 

the owner and operator of the Carlton Bar and Eatery.  I have worked 

in the hospitality industry for 20 plus years and have owned the Carlton 

for nine years.  The Carlton has been located at the corner of Papanui 25 

Road, number 1, directly across from Bealey Avenue and Victoria 

Street for over 150 years.  It was originally established in the 1860s 

where the first Carlton Hotel stood, until 1902 when it was demolished. 

 

 The second Carlton was constructed in 1906 and then stood until 2011 30 

when it was demolished due to significant damage due to the 2011 

earthquake. 

 

 Construction of the new Carlton was completed in 2013.  The Carlton 

continues to be an important place for the local wider community to 35 

socialise at.  At a practical level it is functionally connected to Victoria 

Street.  Our customers will often leave the Carlton and visit other bars 

and restaurants in Victoria Street, or alternatively will visit us after 

being at other bars and restaurants on Victoria Street. 

 40 

  [1.55 pm] 

 

 We are the first bar in the Victoria Street grouping and the anchor 

bookend at one end of the precinct.  We are seeking to have the status 

as part of the precinct recognised through the Replacement Plan 45 

provisions. 
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 I am committed to operating the Carlton in a safe, responsible way and 

to working with the other operators and bars in Victoria Street to help 

manage the precinct.   

 5 

 I was involved in the development of the Victoria Street Precinct 

Accord engaging with the Council Licensing and Crime Prevention 

team, the Police and the Canterbury Public Health. We remain 

committed to being part of the Accord and Victoria Street Precinct and 

contribute to ongoing initiatives like the precinct’s security patrol and 10 

clean up-operations. 

 

 I am concerned that if the Carlton is excluded from the entertainment 

precinct in the Plan, then we would be disadvantaged compared to 

other in the Victoria Street precinct as we would not have the same 15 

recognition in the Plan, although I defer my planner of that detail. 

 

 At the practical level, I am also concerned that other operators might 

over time be less inclined to contribute to the clean-up and street 

patrols at the Carlton end of the precinct area if we are not part of the 20 

precinct. 

 

 That is all. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Dawson? 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, I have not got any questions, thank you, I think I have 

asked them of Mr Thorne. 

 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell? 30 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir, hi Mr Murdoch.  Just the questions that I 

asked of Mr Thorne, he said that you might be able to help me with 

more than he can. 

 35 

 In terms of the resource consents that I understand that you required in 

order to undertake the rebuild recently, were they publicly notified? 

 

MR MURDOCH:   I am not 100 percent sure on that, because I think there 

may have been some existing use rights when it was rebuilt, but I know 40 

there was a new resource consent lodged for it. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   So you could not tell me whether it was notified, whether - - 

- 

 45 

M MURDOCH:   No, no, could not tell you. 
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DR MITCHELL:   Are you able to tell me what it says about noise and hours 

of operation and how that might compare to the standards that the 

overlay would seek to impose? 

 5 

MR MURDOCH:   I cannot confirm on any of that but there was some things 

when we did build the building, we added some extra stuff to it, like we 

got an acoustic report done and put a lot of noise insulation in it.  And 

then we have also taken further steps to putting up in our own 

procedures where some automatic doors shut at certain times of night 10 

to eliminate noise or anything like that, and that is not actually a 

requirement, but things that we have undertaken. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   And all right, just showing my ignorance in many respects 

or lack of knowledge perhaps rather than ignorance.  The bottle shop 15 

that exists slightly further up Papanui Road, almost on the same site, is 

that part of your establishment or is that owned by somebody else? 

 

MR MURDOCH:   What one was that sorry? 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The old service station I think. 

 

SJH:   The liquor store there. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   There is a liquor store somewhere between Pedro’s and the 25 

Carlton. 

 

MR MURDOCH:   I think where the mouse is at the moment thought would be 

the drive through for Liquor King. 

 30 

DR MITCHELL:   So it is not part, so when you are looking for the overlay to 

extend only over your current buildings, that does not extend as far - - - 

 

MR MURDOCH:   No, no, no, it would be right back down where that knife 

and fork emblem is. 35 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you. 

 

MR MURDOCH:   That is actually owned by, the Carlton is split up into 

various owners. 40 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, that is fine, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Huria? 

 45 
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MS HURIA:   Yes, good afternoon, Mr Murdoch.  How effective do you think 

the accord has been at addressing the issues it was set up to address? 

 

MR MURDOCH:   I think it has been very effective to what has happened to 

Victoria Street over recent years, all the operators are working together, 5 

we are working with the Council, everything like that, and we are all 

contributing financially towards it. 

 

MS HURIA:   Okay, thank you, thank you, sir. 

 10 

SJH:   Thank you, Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Good afternoon, Mr Murdoch.  Just to say first, I am a 

relatively recent import to Christchurch, but I have to say I think the 

Carlton makes a great statement in design terms in Papanui Road. 15 

 

 Just a couple of questions on it and probably, effectively the same 

questions I just asked your planning consultant. 

 

 If I was to ask you, what are the risks of not being in the precinct for 20 

the Carlton, what would you say? 

 

MR MURDOCH:   I think there is a lot – well, there is a lot of risks really 

because we are all collectively working down the street to offer good 

amenity and everything like that.  It is sort of the gateway into the – 25 

well when we were developing the site, it was seen by the Council as a 

significant entry point into the city, and it was sort of gateway and part 

of the – actually that has probably answered a little bit of the question 

on the resource consent. 

 30 

  [2.00 pm] 

 

 Because I know there were some provisions to having glass at one end 

of the building so that the streets, Papanui Road and Bealey Avenue 

were interacting.  People walking past could see the customers inside 35 

and everything like that. 

 

 There is a lot going on the street, we have got the convention centre 

and the town hall, the Casino at the other end.  Bealey Avenue and 

Papanui Road are sort of seen as probably the major accommodation 40 

providers in Christchurch at the moment.  Yes, there are various other 

areas where it would be quite significant if we were excluded from it. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just on the matter of detail, I asked about the accord.   

 45 

MR MURDOCH:   Yes. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Where the document refers to signatories but my copy 

looks like it is unsigned, can you help me with that? 

 

MR MURDOCH:   Yes, I would have to find out on that as well because I was 5 

one of the group members who helped put it together initially, along 

with some of the other operators on Victoria Street.  I would have to 

check on if they were to be signed or if they were not. I need to confirm 

that. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well perhaps counsel can help with that. 

 

MR MURDOCH:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 15 

 

SJH:   Mr Murdoch, the strip of units on the Hagley Park end, they are all 

commercial, no residential in there? 

 

MR MURDOCH:   They would be the Oamaru stone ones? 20 

 

SJH:   Well the ones you can see there with the end of Strawberry Fare on 

them. 

 

MR MURDOCH:   I am not sure what you would call them on the planning 25 

side of it but I presume they are travellers’ accommodation.  That is 

Carlton Mill Lodge there.  Oh, where the arrow is, sorry? 

 

SJH:   Yes. 

 30 

MR MURDOCH:   Yes, they have all got commercial activities in them so they 

are basically all offices, there are various businesses throughout there.  

And the next block over is Carlton Mill Lodge. 

 

SJH:   Okay, thank you.  Anything arising, Mr Gardner-Hopkins? 35 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   No, sir, not for this witness.  I am loathe to seek 

an indulgence but - - - 

 

SJH:   If you could file a signed copy of the Accord I suspect there might be a 40 

page at the end missing or something. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes, and the other thing that I raise is it may be 

relatively quick that we could confirm the 75 metre point and I do just 

wonder if I could come back with confirmation of that? 45 
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SJH:   Yes, you can and it may be helpful also to lodge a copy of the resource 

consent with us. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Thank you, sir. 

 5 

SJH:   All right, thank you.  Thank you, Mr Murdoch, you may stand down.  

You may be excused, Mr Gardner-Hopkins. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Thank you, sir. 

 10 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.02 pm] 

 

SJH:   Now, Christchurch Casinos.  Mr Bergin?  If you would come forward to 

the microphone at the table.  You wish to speak to your submission and 

you have lodged an oral submission, if you just take us through that, 15 

yes.  If you just stand for us, please. 
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MR BERGIN:   Right, firstly my name is Tim Bergin and I do represent the 

Christchurch Casino and I thank you for the opportunity to make an 

oral submission. 

 

SJH:   Just to help us, what is your role with the Casino? 5 

 

MR BERGIN:  My role is the Risk and Compliance Manager for Christchurch 

Casino. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you. 10 

 

MR BERGIN:   I have been in that role for the last 10 years.  So the reason that 

we have the District Plan and that it is reviewed is specifically to 

consider if the change from the previous planning decisions might be a 

good thing for Christchurch with the passage of time and/or 15 

circumstances if the previous plan still holds true. 

 

 Today I do represent Christchurch Casino and appear in support of our 

submission to rezone some land either owned by Christchurch Casino 

or immediately adjacent to such land.  There are two areas in particular, 20 

excuse me, sir, would you like the copies that I was asked to bring 

along? 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you.  No we have that, it is the map that - - - 

 25 

MR BERGIN:   I thought the map might be helpful for understanding. 

 

  [2.05 pm] 

 

SJH:   Yes, carry on. 30 

 

MR BERGIN:   Yes, so the first area, area 1 is to rezone to Central City 

Business.  The area is currently a sealed car park that the Casino uses, 

and our intent is to develop that site into a hotel and car park complex 

with an element of hospitality and retail at street level on the existing 35 

land.   

 

 The initial concepts have been before the Urban Design Panel and they 

are being reviewed and planned to be presented again next month.  The 

hotel itself is to be 190-odd standard rooms, nine suites and car park 40 

facilities something in excess of 500 car parks.  The strategic location 

of the property for parking has been identified by Council. There has 

been no opposition to the proposed use and development.  It ties into 

the City Plan and is what the city and especially the CBD needs to 

grow and succeed, in our opinion. 45 
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 New Zealand lacks the infrastructure and facilities of a high enough 

standard to support aspirations of Christchurch and Canterbury 

Tourism, Tourism New Zealand and New Zealand Trade and 

Enterprise. Our government is also keenly aware and concerned 

regarding the pressures the expected increases in tourism will create.  5 

Our proposed development will also include some conference and 

meeting facilities. 

 

 The second area is identified in yellow and that is a request to rezone 

that also to Central City Business or potentially Central City Mixed 10 

Use.  And there are two parts to this area of land.  The site on the 

south-western corner of Salisbury and Durham Streets was previously 

the Laycocks Panelbeaters site and it has recently been purchased by 

Christchurch Casino.   

 15 

 Although previously used for commercial purposes, it is zoned as 

Central City Residential and CCL’s intention is to continue using the 

property for car parking in the short term.  We have resource consents 

to do so in the meantime.  Our longer term intention is to potentially 

develop it as administration offices and associated parking in support of 20 

CCL’s business activities. 

 

 The adjacent land to the west is also currently zoned Central City 

Residential and prior to the Canterbury earthquakes this area was 

residential flats and is now predominantly vacant land.  Christchurch 25 

Casino is currently considering the purchase of this property if it 

becomes available for sale to future-proof the possible expansion for 

the proposed hotel.  As such, the land would remain being used for 

accommodation purposes to meet demand. There would be no intention 

to use the land for any sort of industrial purpose. 30 

 

 So in general, the international tourists expect choices and Christchurch 

is currently limited in what is available.  The rezoning also supports the 

goals and aspirations of NZ INC. We believe our submission is 

completely consistent with the goals and aspirations of the Central City 35 

Recovery Plan.  Parking in the CBD and immediate surrounds is a 

challenge.  The proposed land use for car parking, accommodation and 

retail is very consistent with the immediate area along Victoria Street.   

 

 Our proposed hotel and car parking complex will also include a 40 

redevelopment of Peterborough Street between Durham and Victoria 

Streets in keeping with the Victoria Street Streetscape Proposal.  

Rezoning to Central City Mixed Use would not prevent the land from 

being used for residential purposes, it simply provides greater 

flexibility with an eye to envisage Christchurch in 10 to 20 years’ time. 45 
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 Salisbury Street itself would make a natural delineation of land use 

between business to the south and residential to the north. Any 

potential redevelopment by us would still require a resource consent 

and the earthquake just last Sunday has some investors quite jittery 

again.  Rezoning would also make it easier for investment in the city by 5 

creating greater certainty of the possibilities of the land immediately 

around and adjacent to us. 

 

 Christchurch Casino is very mindful of our place in the city and how 

we are both part of the community and a significant employer and large 10 

scale spender of supplies and services.  Our proposal is not just about 

Christchurch Casino, it is about what is best for the city. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  I will see if the Panel has any questions.  Ms Dawson? 

 15 

  [2.10 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   So just a simple question just to be sure that from the plan, 

because I always forget which quadrant the Casino is located on, but it 

is the area immediately to the south of area 1 on the triangle between 20 

Victoria and Durham and Peterborough? 

 

MR BERGIN:   Yes, it is immediately below area 1. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, where that, if you look up - - - 25 

 

MR BERGIN:   And there are two green strips just either side. 

 

MS DAWSON:   On each corner. 

 30 

MR BERGIN:   On each corner, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you, that is where I thought it was.  That is 

all, thank you. 

 35 

SJH:   Thank you.  Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir.  I have just a couple of questions about the 

map just to get things clear in my mind.  To the west of area 1 in the 

pink area, which is also below area 2, that is also car park at the present 40 

time? 

 

MR BERGIN:   Yes, it is, sir. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   If I understand the map correctly, is that right? 45 
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MR BERGIN:   Yes, sir. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   And looking at area 2 you have explained that you own the 

easternmost part of that and someone else owns the westernmost part. 

 5 

MR BERGIN:   Yes, sir. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   In round terms, just looking at the sort of Google Maps, 

would it be fair to say that you own about a third of that total block? 

 10 

MR BERGIN:   About a third, yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   It does not matter who the owner of the other area is per se 

but you said it is not the Casino. 

 15 

MR BERGIN:   No. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   It is not an associated company, it is a private entity in other 

words? 

 20 

MR BERGIN:   I understand it is an elderly gentleman. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   And what are their views about the proposed rezoning of 

their land? 

 25 

MR BERGIN:   We have not asked, I am not aware that we have asked, but we 

have signalled our intention or our interest in purchasing. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Okay, thank you.  Thank you, sir. 

 30 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Judge? 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Bergin.  Ms Andrew, would you come forward. 

 40 

<TIM BERGIN WITHDREW [2.11 pm] 
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SJH:   Your full name is Kelly Marie Andrew? 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes.  

 

SJH:   You have filed a brief of evidence dated 14 January 2016? 5 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   You have the experience and the qualifications set out in your brief of 

evidence? 10 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

SJH:   Do you have any corrections to that document? 

 15 

MS ANDREW:   No, I don’t. 

 

SJH:   So can you confirm it is true and correct? 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes. 20 

 

SJH:   All right, if you would give us a highlights package please. 

 

MS ANDREW:   Thank you, sir. So Christchurch Casinos Limited own a 

number of properties within the Central City as Mr Bergin had 25 

indicated.  Their submission relates to - - - 

 

SJH:   No, it is a highlights package not a reading of your evidence. 

 

MS ANDREW:   I know, it is summarised. 30 

 

SJH:   Well, it is exactly the same wording word for word from your exhibit.  

 

MS ANDREW:   That sentence is, yes. 

 35 

SJH:   All right, okay, carry on. 

 

MS ANDREW:   Thank you. Their submission relates to some of these 

properties in addition to some properties adjacent to Christchurch 

Casinos Limited’s own land but that are not in their ownership.  Their 40 

submission essentially seeks the rezoning of this land.  In paragraph 3.2 

of my evidence I identify the two areas to which their submission 

relates and I will refer to these as I have done in my evidence and as 

was just handed out to you. 

 45 
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 With regard to area 1 Christchurch Casinos Limited seek to rezone the 

area from Central City Mixed Use to Central City Business. In 

Mr Stevenson’s evidence-in-chief dated 16 December 2015 he 

recommends accepting this relief sought and I agree with the comments 

that he made in his evidence. 5 

 

 With regard to area 2, Christchurch Casinos Limited seek to rezone the 

area from Central City Residential to Central City Business.  

Attachment C to Mr Stevenson’s statement of evidence raises five key 

areas of concern regarding the rezoning of area 2, and I have addressed 10 

each of those points in my evidence and provide a summary of these. 

 

 So firstly, in terms of enabling commercial activity over an additional 

area, the position I take in paragraph 6.4 of my evidence is not so much 

that the rezoning simply enables a continuation of historic use, rather 15 

the integrated approach to this urban block supports a consolidated 

urban environment and it provides for a range of uses, both residential 

and commercial, which is consistent with the CCRP. 

 

 The calculations provide some context as to the type of use that has 20 

occurred in the past and present and I think is useful to indicate this 

block is predominantly more commercial than it is residential.  

However, the calculations also quantify the extent of which the 

commercial activity would be expanded, and in the context of this 

block and the wider Central City area. 25 

 

  [2.15 pm] 

 

 In my opinion the 6,097 metres squared or 4,048 metres squared if we 

exclude the former Laycock Panel Beaters site is not significant.  The 30 

benefits however are particularly in terms of the existing and intended 

business use of the greater portion of the block, and considering the 

types of activities which would be most compatible with these in the 

future. 

 35 

 Second, in terms of the loss of residential capacity in paragraph 6.9 of 

my evidence I believe that it is important to make the distinction that 

the proposed rezoning would not result in a loss of opportunity for 

residential development.  Whether the residential development is likely 

or I think is a different matter but in my opinion the opportunity is still 40 

there whether the zone is Business, Mixed Use or Residential. 

 

 While I have referred to the preferred concept for redevelopment in my 

evidence I note that there are a number of reasons as to why this block, 

in my opinion, is appropriate for a Business or Mixed Use zoning and 45 

is an ideal location outside the parameter of the Central City core for 
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parking and guest accommodation which, in addition to residential 

activities, are also critical for the Central City.   

 

 These activities are also appropriate in proximity to the Casino, which 

is an established activity in this location being a direct tourism anchor 5 

for many years and will continue to be for many years to come. 

 

 The Liveable City chapter of the CCRP emphasises that people are the 

heart and soul of economic development and growth and so the ability 

to attract and cater for visitors strongly influences our economy, 10 

particularly tourism.  So visitors play a key role in enhancing the social 

and economic environment, also for residents through their spending 

and use of services and also bring energy and vibrancy to the city as 

residents do as well. 

 15 

 In paragraph 6.12 of my evidence I consider the transport effects and 

placed reliance on a consent path.  As I understand there are a number 

of changes proposed to the transport network within the Central City, 

namely the conversion of Salisbury Street to a two-way street, I 

consider that there is an opportunity to consider further traffic demands 20 

following the district plan review and that future design and 

consultation of the transport network would possibly consider the 

zoning as decided upon this review as well. 

 

 From paragraph 6.15 of my evidence I consider the risk of setting a 25 

precedent and Mr Stevenson’s concern that the rezoning would alter the 

use and the character of the surrounding environment. 

 

 I consider that in the nature of a district plan review things would 

change from existing or historical use and should reflect the anticipated 30 

outcomes for the area, and in this case the Central City, which are 

guided by the CCRP. As Mr Stevenson notes in his rebuttal the 

previous use of the site for a panel beaters should not preclude its 

development for residential and I agree.   

 35 

 While I have referred to the previous non-residential use of the former 

Laycock site I do not believe my position is based around the historical 

use of those sites which are sought to be rezoned, rather acknowledging 

that this urban block is predominantly commercial, and that there is an 

opportunity to create and enhance an exciting and vibrant space which 40 

would be better enabled through the Commercial Business zoning 

which is sought.  That is my evidence. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Scott? 

 45 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [2.18 pm] 
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MS SCOTT:   Thank you, good afternoon, Ms Andrew.  My questions focus on 

area 2, as the Council has accepted the rezoning of area 1 to Central 

City Business. Okay, so area 2, that is a rezoning of about 0.6 hectares 

from Central City Residential, which is in the Central City Recovery 5 

Plan, to Central City Business, so it is not a small area, is it? 

 

MS ANDREW:   No. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And you would accept as a planner that in recommending that a 10 

Business zone is more appropriate than a Residential zone that you 

need to be satisfied in terms of section 32 that that zoning is more 

appropriate? 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes. 15 

 

MS SCOTT:   And the Panel needs to be satisfied in terms of its obligations 

under section 32AA that the Business zoning is more appropriate? 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes. 20 

 

MS SCOTT:   And a section 32 assessment includes an evaluation of the 

benefits and costs of the effects that are anticipated? 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes. 25 

 

MS SCOTT:   So I have identified within your statement some benefits of the 

Business zoning, where can I find the costs of such a rezoning? 

 

MS ANDREW:   I have not specifically highlighted any costs of the rezoning, 30 

no.  I have focused I think purely because on the appropriateness and I 

think that it would be the appropriate location for these types of 

activities in the future. 

 

  [2.20 pm] 35 

 

MS SCOTT:   The appropriate location? 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes. 

 40 

MS SCOTT:   Right, okay, so you must accept, mustn’t you, that in terms of 

the effects on the environment - and I am still looking at section 32. 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes. 

 45 
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MS SCOTT:   That it anticipated under the rezoning that that would include 

transport effects? 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes, they would, yes. 

 5 

MS SCOTT:   And the only traffic evidence on this rezoning before the Panel 

is that of Mr Milne’s for the Council, is it not? 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes. 

 10 

MS SCOTT:   And it has gone unchallenged? 

 

MS ANDREW:   As far as I am aware, yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And he raises concerns based on his qualifications and 15 

experience as a transport engineer about the combined effect of 

development on the subject land on the safety and efficiency of the 

central city transport network. 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes, he did, yes. 20 

 

MS SCOTT:   Have you taken that evidence into account in coming to your 

conclusions? 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes I did read over that evidence and there are a number of 25 

transport considerations. I have not considered the transport 

considerations thoroughly.  I really did, I guess, propose obviously the 

relief sought for the rezoning and considered those sort of concerns that 

were raised by Council through informal mediation and sort of started 

by addressing those concerns. 30 

 

 But I am aware that transport concerns would possibly need some 

further consideration.  To that extent, I guess, in my mind, the extent 

and scale of those transport effects would be, I guess, would depend on 

what the development is and I guess rezoning would actually change 35 

what those effects would be.  I admit that, yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   So is your view that transport effects are irrelevant to a 

rezoning?  Is that what I can take? 

 40 

MS ANDREW:   No, it is not my view.  It is just that I have not undertaken a 

full transportation analysis.  I am not a transport planner although I 

admit obviously that it should be within my assessment.   

 

 I think that transport issues are, obviously it is a very wider issue and I 45 

have not considered it thoroughly in this case. 
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MS SCOTT:   Okay, and you have disregarded Mr Milne’s evidence, have you 

not? 

 

MS ANDREW:   His evidence, as far as I am aware, does allude to that, the 5 

change of zoning to Central Business would mean that it would 

essentially bypass or the high trip generator rules do not apply to this, 

and so that is where his concern is, is that that would not be assessed 

through the resource consent process, so that is something that I did not 

actually consider.  I was not aware that those rules did not apply. 10 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, and that is an issue in terms of your recommendations, is 

it not? 

 

MS ANDREW:   In terms of transport, yes, it is something that I have not 15 

considered thoroughly. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Is it a showstopper in terms of the rezoning? 

 

MS ANDREW:   I do not think it is but I think it would require some further 20 

consideration and I think obviously if the Christchurch Casinos are 

looking to submit a consent that obviously they would need to provide 

a thorough assessment in terms of that through that process anyway 

because they are looking at, you know, they want to do the 

development properly and they want to make sure that there are a lot of 25 

other aspects that are considered.   

 

 They want to take an integrated approach. They want to look at doing a 

shared space along Peterborough Street so they will be considering 

traffic effects and coming up with a comprehensive proposal, so it is 30 

something they would consider when they are going through their 

future development stages. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, that is at a consent stage.  It is not what we are doing here 

and now today, is it? 35 

 

MS ANDREW:   No, no. 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, okay, I am just going to move on to the higher order 

direction that sits within the Land Use Recovery Plan, the Central City 40 

Recovery Plan and also the Regional Policy Statement directing 

residential intensification within the central city and, in fact, within the 

wider city.  Are you aware of those directions? 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes. 45 
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MS SCOTT:   And this direction is about permanent residential activities.  It is 

not about guest accommodation, hotels et cetera. 

 

MS ANDREW:   No. 

 5 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, and the last paragraph 6.9 of your evidence you state 

there that the opportunity for residential development with the Central 

City Business zoning is not lost.  We have had some clear indications 

of the Casino’s plans for Area 2 which is to develop as administration 

offices and associated parking in support of the Casino’s business 10 

activities.   

 

 How does that align with your conclusion that the residential 

development opportunities are not going to be lost? 

 15 

MS ANDREW:   I was essentially just trying to make that distinction that, 

what Mr Stevenson was saying, was that “lost” is not actually true 

because there is still that opportunity to provide for it through the Plan.  

It is a permitted activity in all those zones but, as I say, the likelihood 

of that occurring may be less with the Casino’s development.  They do 20 

not own that entire area either though so there is still that opportunity 

for residential development to occur there. 

 

  [14.25 pm] 

 25 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, and did you go and speak to the owners of those properties 

(INDISTINCT 00.34) this rezoning? 

 

MS ANDREW:   No. 

 30 

MS SCOTT:   You have not either? 

 

MS ANDREW:   No, but they have not begun any negotiations or anything as 

far as I am aware to actually buy those sites.  At this stage it is more of 

an unknown. 35 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, and have you considered the extent to which the zoning is 

consistent which is a requirement of the Plan with objective 3.3.8 of the 

Strategic Directions chapter which seeks to provide for an additional 

5,000 dwellings within the central city? 40 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes, I mean, it will result potentially in a loss of residential 

capacity.  I mean, as I say, there is that portion that still will remain 

available to develop into a residential development but, oh, sorry, 

would you repeat the question, sorry. 45 
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MS SCOTT:   Have you considered the extent to which a business zoning 

would be consistent with objective 3.3.8 of the Strategic Directions 

chapter which seeks to provide for an additional 5,000 dwellings within 

the central city? 

 5 

MS ANDREW:   Yes, right, okay, so as I was saying, it does limit that 

capacity.  It does have the potential to obviously provide for that 

residential use.  I think what I considered was that in terms of, there is 

also a need to provide for that parking and that guest accommodation 

element as well and knowing that that is particularly the intention of the 10 

Christchurch Casinos to take that approach and they want to do it an 

integrated way; that those aspects are also critical to the recovery and, I 

guess, the future of the central city. 

 

 And so by providing that alternative kind of – the accommodation and 15 

the parking, it still brings people into the city as residential 

development would, so I interpreted that as wanting to bring, 

obviously, residents in to increase the vibrancy and the amount of 

people that are actually in the central city, and I felt that providing the 

guest accommodation has that same kind of outcome by bringing 20 

people into the city and actually spending money or walking around the 

town, just increasing that presence of people within the city. 

 

MS SCOTT:   We are talking about administration offices and associated 

parking for this land though, are we not? 25 

 

MS ANDREW:   For that specific part of the land, but it is part of the wider 

development that they want to pursue and look at creating within that 

block. 

 30 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, just one more question.  So, the Council cannot make any 

recommendations that are inconsistent with the Central City Recovery 

Plan.  So, the land fronting Salisbury Street is zoned Residential in the 

Central City Recovery Plan, correct? 

 35 

MS ANDREW:   Sorry, what was that? 

 

MS SCOTT:   The land fronting Salisbury Street is Residential in the Central 

City Recovery Plan. 

 40 

MS ANDREW:   Yes it is. 

 

MS SCOTT:   So, have you considered how a recommendation for that to be 

business is not inconsistent with the Central City Recovery Plan? 

 45 

MS ANDREW:   The area to the south of Salisbury Street? 
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MS SCOTT:   No, Area 2.  So, the area we are talking about rezoning. 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes. 

 5 

MS SCOTT:   It is residential in the Recovery Plan.  You want to rezone it 

Business. 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes. 

 10 

MS SCOTT:  Have you considered the legal test of not making a 

recommendation that is inconsistent with the Central City Recovery 

Plan? 

 

MS ANDREW:   I think it is consistent with – the key objective really is the 15 

15.1.15, the Retail and Commercial Activity Diversity and Distribution 

of Activities in the Central City.  That, you know, comes out of the 

Central City Recovery Plan and it is about providing for a range of 

those activities.  I do not see that as being - - - 

 20 

SJH:   That is not answering the question, I am sorry.  Could you please answer 

it? 

 

MS ANDREW:   Well, I think one of the key directions of the Central City 

Recovery Plan is providing for those types of activities and I think that 25 

this rezoning actually does align with that outcome. 

 

MS SCOTT:   So, a change from Residential to Business is not inconsistent? 

 

MS ANDREW:   I think with the overall vision of the Central City Recovery 30 

Plan, I mean, obviously it is implemented in different ways and there is 

more than one way to achieve that and I think that the rezoning of this 

would not stop those visions and objectives from being achieved. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, did you seek legal advice on that opinion? 35 

 

MS ANDREW:   No, that is my own opinion. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, no further questions, sir. 

 40 

  [2.30 pm] 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you Ms Andrew.  Just exploring this consistency or 45 

non-inconsistency with the CCRP a little bit more.  Throughout both 
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the Liveable City volume and the main part of it relating to the business 

zones of the CCRP, there are numerous references to the two sides of 

the coin, the consolidation of the business areas and the intensification 

and additional houses into the residential areas.  

 5 

 And area two is extending the business area, and as you have said 

would, albeit incrementally, reduce the ability to have residences, even 

if you think there is a possibility it is a likely to reduce the likelihood. 

 

MS ANDREW:   The likelihood, yes. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  So how do you reconcile those two aspects with the 

thrust of the Central City Recovery Plan around consolidation and 

outside of that the policies about ensuring that non-residential activities 

do not undermine the ability to intensify residential outside the 15 

commercial areas? 

 

MS ANDREW:   I think what I have tried to consider is that within the small 

block that we are talking about, in my opinion I thought that the 6,000 

metres squared is not large, when you think about the actual whole 20 

central city frame, in the grand scheme of things, I think still keeping it 

within that block does consolidate that commercial activity.  In the 

sense what they are wanting to do is create that integrated development 

and have activities that actually are compatible with each other. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   I do not want to hear about the development just at the 

moment, I want to hear about the policy. 

 

MS ANDREW:   Sorry, yes. So I think though by still keeping that 

development within that block, I do not think is inconsistent with 30 

keeping it consolidated, I think it keeps it defined within that particular 

urban block, and the predominant use of that block as it has been now 

and it has been in the past has always been predominantly commercial.  

So I think that it is - - - 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   Predominantly commercial of the whole block? 

 

MS ANDREW:   Of that particular block, yes.  So I do not see that it is 

straying from that objective to keep it consolidated commercial 

activity.  40 

 

MS DAWSON:   Did you hear the evidence of the Victoria Neighbourhood 

Association, from their point of view that, I suppose the creeping 

commercialisation of the edges in parts of the residential areas in the 

Central City and the cumulative effects of that on the ability to retain 45 

residential in the Central City, did you hear their evidence? 
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MS ANDREW:   Was that last week on Thursday? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 5 

MS ANDREW:   Yes, I was here for Marjory’s evidence.   

 

MS DAWSON:   So have you considered the cumulative impact of the sorts of 

approaches you have taken to the 6,000 square metre block, given the 

diverse nature of the zoning within the central city, have you looked at 10 

the potential cumulative impact of that on the policy context that the 

Central City Recovery Plan is seeking? 

 

MS ANDREW:   And I guess the risk of precedent is whether it will continue 

to creep or - - - 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well not necessarily precedent but whether that argument can 

be made for other blocks and other locations and how that impacts on 

the policy context. 

 20 

MS ANDREW:   Yes, I think the argument can be made, and has been made 

for a number of different areas within the central city, and for similar 

reasons to this or otherwise the Council have presented evidence, 

whether they accept it not, and in some cases they have rezoned to - - - 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   I am wanting your view. 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes, I know but with the District Plan Review I think that 

that is where the opportunity is to see where that demand is needed and 

where the future business activities could occur, and so in this case that 30 

is the proposal that we are putting forward to say that we think in the 

future here in this particular block there is opportunity to have that 

flexibility and to include business use, not just to stop it at that point.   

 

 So we are really just taking that opportunity to say that it is appropriate 35 

in my opinion to have that entire urban block as commercial to provide 

that flexibility and approach it in the future.  

  [2.35 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   So I just want to ask you on one other aspect, you have talked 40 

a lot about the Casino’s plans for this area and guest accommodation 

and how that will bring visitors in, and it is an important part of the 

vitality.  But you understand this submission is not to put guest 

accommodation, it is actually to change the zoning.   

 45 

MS ANDREW:   Yes, I know that.   
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MS DAWSON:   So the zoning has a lot of other activities as permitted 

activities, not just guest accommodation, doesn’t it? 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes.   5 

 

MS DAWSON:   So have you assessed the impact, both in a policy sense, in a 

traffic sense for example, of the range of activities that could go in this 

zoning as of right, and the impacts of that on the approach for the 

Central City compared with just looking at guest accommodation? 10 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes, I know that the rezoning would actually open it up to all 

of the permitted activities to occur, but again I just go back to the fact 

that within this particular urban block, it is just that sort of 40 percent 

of that top part, and in my view it was an insignificant kind of area on 15 

the grand scheme of things, in that it can still be retained within this 

certain block and that commercial activities already are occurring, so 

this would just provide that the facility to include those.   

 

MS DAWSON:   So would that be including offices or major retail, you do not 20 

see any conflict with the approach in the Central City Recovery Plan of 

allowing those activities that can establish in those zones going out into 

this area of the city? 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes, I mean if it was to be developed in any other way that 25 

there potentially would be a conflict I think. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Right, and you understand that if the zoning went through, 

the guest accommodation would not necessarily require another 

resource consent, so the issues that Ms Scott was talking to you about 30 

reconsidering traffic effects, there probably would not be any another 

opportunity to consider that through resource consent. Do you 

understand that? 

 

MS ANDREW:   I understand that, especially with traffic effects, like I say I 35 

did not assess the traffic effects as thoroughly as I should have, and I 

was not aware that it completely excluded from the high trip generator 

rules, so I admit there is an issue with the transport side of things.   

 

MS DAWSON:   That is an issue, all right.  40 

 

MS ANDREW:   In terms of rezoning, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  That is all my questions, thank you. 

 45 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell? 
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DR MITCHELL:   Thank you sir. Hello, Ms Andrew. Just a couple of 

questions following on from what you have already been asked about.  

Do I take it that you have not explored the detailed provisions of the 

commercial zoning in sufficient detail to know what, if any, resource 5 

consents might be required for the type of development that Mr Bergin 

explained to us?   

 

MS ANDREW:   I had not initially considered thoroughly the transportation 

aspects. 10 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, no, sorry, that is not my question.  Have you looked at 

the details of the commercial zoning in sufficient detail to know what 

consents and what the activity status would be of those consents to 

enable a development of the sort that Mr Bergin explained to us? 15 

 

MS ANDREW:   I have looked at what is permitted on the site and what is not, 

in terms of just the activities and the types of activities that are 

envisaged for the site, but I have not in detail looked at the specific 

development controls as such, but the fact that there are development 20 

controls in certain situations.   

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, and under the zoning that was notified, do you 

know what the activity status of the proposed hotel on Area 2 would 

be? 25 

 

MS ANDREW:   On Area 2, I believe would be discretionary.   

 

DR MITCHELL:   In the Residential zone? 

 30 

MS ANDREW:   In the Residential zone, yes.   

 

DR MITCHELL:   Do you know what percentage of the Central City 

Residential zoned land, Area 2, comprises? 

 35 

MS ANDREW:   Of that block? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, we know that there is 0.6 hectares. 

 

MS ANDREW:   Oh, the total, sorry. 40 

 

DR MITCHELL:   What is the percentage of that land in the context of the 

Residential land in the Central City? 

 

MS ANDREW:   No, I do not know that calculation. 45 
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DR MITCHELL:   All right.  Do you know how many accommodation units 

could be established as of right in Area 2? 

 

MS ANDREW:   In Area 2? 

 5 

DR MITCHELL:   And if it were to remain in Residential zoning. 

 

MS ANDREW:   No, sorry.  

 

DR MITCHELL:   Finally, I can understand why, or readily understand why 10 

the Casino would want to rezone land that it already owns, it strikes me 

as an extremely novel approach though to rezone somebody else’s land 

in advance of having any conversations with them, and they could 

wake up in the morning and find that the zoning on their land had 

changed.  Wouldn’t the more conventional way of approaching that 15 

been to purchase the land and secure it that way and then undertake a 

plan change and/or seek whatever resource consents were necessary at 

that time? 

 

  [2.40 pm] 20 

 

MS ANDREW:   Well the plan is to obviously seek resource consent for the 

areas that they own, including their more recent - - -  

 

DR MITCHELL:   I am not talking about the areas that they own, I am talking 25 

about the area that they do not own in Area 2. 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes, but when we made the original submission they also did 

not own the Laycock site within Area 2, so it was just after that they 

did actually end up purchasing that site when they decided what their 30 

actual future plans were. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   But do you not see the point, that it is one thing to buy some 

land, it is quite another thing for any entity to say, “I want your…” – 

imagine if someone came to your house and you wake up in the 35 

morning in your house and instead of being zoned Residential where 

you could build a house on it, is suddenly zoned Commercial? 

 

MS ANDREW:   Well originally we were looking at just the Laycock site, but 

looking at it in a comprehensive, like in terms of the - - -  40 

 

SJH:   Please you - - -  

 

DR MITCHELL:   You have not answered the question. 

 45 
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SJH:   - - - you must answer the questions that are put to you, you really made 

no effort right through the questioning to do that.  You are being asked, 

“Is it not unusual to attempt to rezone someone else’s property”. 

 

MS ANDREW:   I guess, I mean they wanted to look at the future development 5 

of the sites that they were - - -  

 

SJH:   Well if you are not prepared enough to know just say so. 

 

MS ANDREW:   Well in my opinion the reason why they were taking this is 10 

because they were looking at what the future of the - - -  

 

SJH:   That is not the question.  The question is, that it is a novel approach to 

try and rezone someone else’s property. 

 15 

MS ANDREW:   Okay. 

 

SJH:   Now what is your answer to that? 

 

MS ANDREW:   I do not know the answer, I do not know how to answer that, 20 

sorry. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir. 25 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   I suppose all my questions have pretty much been answered 

around the loss of residential, but just for confirming, with regard to 30 

your paragraph 6.11, you said that in your opinion the rezoning will not 

result in a loss of opportunity for residential development, but you are 

confirming that the Casino has no plans for residential development? 

 

MS ANDREW:   That was just, it was mostly in terms of response to Mark 35 

Stevenson’s as a reason against the rezoning, and so it was just purely 

making that distinction that it does not actually result in that loss of 

opportunity. But it does, in this particular case, it would appear unlikely 

that it would develop as residential. 

 40 

MS HURIA:   Thank you, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No thanks, sir, her answers have been given in all my 45 

matters. 
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SJH:   Anything arising Ms Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No thank you, sir. 

 5 

SJH:   I am sorry, there is one thing.  You from your answers have simply 

looked at Area 2 in the context of that block, not of the whole wider 

central city, have you not? 

 

MS ANDREW:   I have tried to consider it in terms of what the central city are 10 

trying to achieve in terms of the benefits that it might bring to the 

central city in terms of business activity and supporting the tourism 

aspect as well, I guess in proximity to the Christchurch Casino. 

 

SJH:   But you repeatedly came back and answered in the context of this block, 15 

it has always been commercial relatively speaking and it is quite small 

in the overall scheme of things. 

 

MS ANDREW:   I think in the overall scheme of things, in terms of the central 

city, yes, the area that we are looking at in this block is quite small. 20 

 

SJH:   Sorry, Ms Scott, was there anything from that? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No thank you, sir. 

 25 

SJH:   All right, thank you, can I just try and give you some advice, you really 

must listen to questions and answer the questions and try to do it much 

more succinctly. 

 

MS ANDREW:   I am sorry, I was trying to answer the questions succinctly. 30 

 

SJH:   I know you were, I am just trying to give you some advice for the future 

- - -  

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes. 35 

 

SJH:   - - - because I am sure you have got a long career ahead of you, yes. 

 

MS ANDREW:   Thank you. 

 40 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.44 pm] 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Generation Zero?  Mr Muir, come forward to the witness 

box please. 

45 
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<ROWAN DAVID CHARLES MUIR, sworn [2.44 pm] 
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SJH:   Now your full name is Rowan? 

 

MR MUIR:   Rowan Muir, Rowan David Charles Muir, sorry. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. And we have in front of us a combine submission and a 5 

statement of lay evidence that you have filed on behalf of Generation 

Zero? 

 

  [2.45 pm] 

 10 

MR MUIR:   That is right. 

 

SJH:   I do not see a date on it, but can you confirm that this is your statement 

of lay evidence? 

 15 

MR MUIR:   I can. 

 

SJH:   And do you have any corrections to make to it? 

 

MR MUIR:   No. 20 

 

SJH:   And can you confirm it is true and correct? 

 

MR MUIR:   Yes. 

 25 

SJH:   Okay, if you just go ahead and speak to it please. 

 

MR MUIR:   So my statement will briefly discuss the points that we are in 

support of, that I mention in my submission and then our suggested 

amendments for the central city cycle parking provisions. 30 

 

 The policies that we submitted in support of were 13.9.1.2.3.7.8 which 

are the provisions that pertain to walking and cycling, public transport, 

lanes in the central city and a central city core, and then also the 

renewable energy generation policy 13.13.1.1.3. 35 

 

 All I want to say on those is that we are really happy with them and 

also the overall tone of the transport provisions of the central city 

section.  Personally I have spent some time living in Wellington over 

the summer and I was pleasantly surprised by the transport systems in 40 

place there and it made me reflect on the potential that Christchurch has 

after the earthquake obviously to set up a modern and futureproof 

transport system in the central city, and thankfully I think the 

provisions that I have just mentioned really open the way to do that and 

to do something at least is good as what is in Wellington. 45 

 



 Page 499 

  

Ch13: Central City Commenced 11.02.16 

 There are already a number of promising projects happening in 

Christchurch’s centre and I think that these provisions in particular will 

help to support these projects and further projects, and that is all I will 

say on the policies we submitted in support of. 

 5 

 Looking at the amendments we requested those were for basically 

increased cycle parking provisions, as I am sure you are aware those 

have been met with some opposition, so I will do my best to address 

those opposing arguments. 

 10 

 David Falconer in his evidence-in-chief spoke of the provisions in the 

Recovery Plan, an accessible city and the Operative City Plan, his 

conclusion was that since the decision on cycle parking requirements 

outside the central city has been made, the same requirements must be 

applied to the central city unless the AAC contains a specific cycle 15 

parking requirement for the activity, and Richard Shaw for the Crown 

had the same conclusion. 

 

 I do not disagree with Mr Falconer’s conclusion, although I have to 

point out that whether or not it is correct as an observation of the 20 

regulations, I think it is a rationale from a logical standpoint. 

 

 The sense that I get of the central city provisions in relation to transport 

is that they place a greater focus on public transport, walking and in 

this case cycling than the rest of the plan does, and I think if that is the 25 

case then it does not make sense to simply provide for the same number 

of cycle paths as in the rest of the city.  It seems obvious to me that if 

you are going to have more cyclists then you also need to have more 

cycle parking. 

 30 

 Then there was Brad Cabell on behalf of the CDHB and Ministry of 

Health, and he argued that the increase in cycle parking that we have 

suggested for hospital sites would not work given the requirement that 

visitor cycle parks be located within 30 metres of a pedestrian entrance. 

 35 

 I am happy to admit that we did not adequately consider that in our 

original submission and I agree with the rationale of his argument that 

hospital sites specifically need space near entrances for obvious 

reasons, pick-ups, drop offs, emergencies.  However, I think that this 

argument can be rectified quite easily by changing the cycle park 40 

location requirements for hospital sites, for example allow them to be 

further away. 

 

 So to summarise that, I do not think Mr Cabell’s argument is fatal to 

our suggestion, it can be addressed with trivial changes to the plan, and 45 

as far as I am aware those were the main points submitted in opposition 
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to our submission and hopefully I have covered them adequately, and 

that is all I have got to say. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. I will just see if the Panel have any questions, Ms Dawson? 

 5 

  [2.50 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   No I do not have any questions, thank you, Mr Muir, you 

have set it out very clearly, thank you. 

 10 

MR MUIR:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, and I have no questions either. 15 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you. 

 20 

  [2.50 pm] 

 

SJH:   Judge. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just one I think.  Thank you, Mr Muir, for coming along 25 

again and giving us these ideas in this contest of ideas. 

 

 Just on your table 13.9.3, so you have got that table and you have got 

that calculation of the numbers of cycle parks. 

 30 

MR MUIR:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can you help me with understanding the source of that 

logic, in other words, is it a form of calculation based on some data or 

assessment or survey done by the organisation, or is it from a document 35 

that you can refer us to? 

 

MR MUIR:   So I drafted the submission along with a few other members of 

Generation Zero and one of them is a transport planner, and so these 

were her figures.  I cannot tell you how she came to those conclusions, 40 

I basically just deferred to her on those points. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, and so who was the transport planner? 

 

MR MUIR:  Sarah Orr. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And she is qualified? 

 

MR MUIR:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And do you know who she works for? 5 

 

MR MUIR:   No, I do not. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. 

 10 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Muir and thank you to your organisation for your 

submissions that have been helpful on a number of chapters, so we are 

grateful to it.  Thank you for participating in the process. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.51 pm] 15 

 

SJH:   We will now adjourn this particular chapter Hearing.  It is possible we 

will come back as we have in the past with some matters for 

consideration and we will have to try to deal with the issue that was 

raised by the Oxford Terrace Baptist Church, I think it was, of concern 20 

given what we were told, not by the Council Ms Scott, by the others. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   And sir, just in terms of, I presume there will be written 

closings at some stage, sir, is that to be deferred until after the Oxford 

business? 25 

 

SJH:   Yes, I think we will have to get that and consider that so we will 

timetable that in a written fashion. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you very much, sir. 30 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Sir, do you mind, just to clarify with the submission that they are 

going to make, are you anticipating that they make a further submission 35 

to become a party to the Hearing or are you just anticipating they via 

the statement - - - 

 

SJH:   To my mind, and I did not want to (INDISTINCT 2.31) this with lay 

people, it is more a procedural one where some person or somebody 40 

has come along and told us something that is incorrect.  And we will 

have to get the details from them and work out how we deal with that, 

because there was a very firm statement made that all the landowners in 

the blue dotted area had committed and approved the character overlay, 

which is quite clearly now not so according to them. 45 
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 So we will have to give the other side a chance to respond, but it is 

rather more, I think at this stage, a procedural matter, and once we 

clarify that we will just have to see where it takes us I am afraid. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir, that is very useful. 5 

 

SJH:   Yes, I mean if it is accepted, they had been misrepresented, I would 

certainly be open to granting even if at this stage, granting leave to file 

a late submission and we can deal with their point. 

 10 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, sir, I have been reflecting on that and I think a further 

submission would provide the understanding that they need, rather than 

a primary submission. 

 

SJH:   No, I understand that.  Thank you, Ms Scott. 15 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir. 

 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 2.53 PM ACCORDINGLY 


